STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIPHANI MARIE PARKHURST,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000909

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss where Appellant was charged with trafficking in methamphetamine between ten and twenty-eight grams under Section 44-53-375(C) and where under the plain meaning of the statute no "attempt to manufacture" could be established since no methamphetamine was found in the home and since the state relied solely on empty, discarded blister packs of pseudoephedrine to determine a theoretical yield to establish the statutorily required weight?

2.

Whether the court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where there was no direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant knowingly engaged in manufacturing or trafficking methamphetamine and where the evidence indicated Appellant and Cain rented only a single bedroom and had no connection to the rest of the residence where methamphetamine had allegedly been or was being manufactured?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the May 3, 2012 term of General Sessions for trafficking in methamphetamine. R. 181 – R. 182. Her case was called to trial on February 28, 2013 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. She was tried jointly with her co-defendant, Charles Allen Cain. The trial court assumed that all motions and objections raised by either defense counsel were made jointly by both defendants. R. 20, ll. 17-21. Neither defendant appeared and they were consequently tried in their absence. M. Claire Hall represented Appellant and Robert B. Hall represented Mr. Cain. Joseph Hayes Holliday was the assistant solicitor. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on March 1, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 170, l. 15 – 171, l. 12. Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to five years suspended upon the service of three years imprisonment and forty months probation. R. 178, ll. 12-22.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 17, 2012, two patrol deputies from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, Kevan Kyle and Chris Wilbanks, responded to a Spartanburg home in an attempt to serve a Family Court bench warrant for a Travis Kirby, an unrelated third party. The deputies chose to knock on one of the back doors of the residence because a vehicle was parked directly outside that door. R. 34, l. 6 – 35, l. 6; R. 51, ll. 16-21. Deputy Kyle testified that both Appellant and Cain came to the door, which led into a bedroom. The two denied knowing a Travis Kirby and explained to the deputies that they were renting a single bedroom from the owner of the residence and that “they had nothing to do with the rest of the house.” R. 35, l. 5-23; R. 53, ll. 18-22.

After checking Appellant and Cain's identification and presenting the bench warrant, the deputies searched the bedroom and then the remainder of the house. R. 36, ll. 7-18; R. 37, l. 8. They did not locate Travis Kirby. However, the officers did discover what Deputy Kyle described as a “meth lab.” In the bathroom located in “the far corner of the house,” Deputy Kyle testified that he observed a bottle with “tubing coming from the top. The tubing ran up to a window that was open at the top, and the opening of the tubing was actually out into the air, the outside . . .” R. 37, ll. 10-25. In the living room, Deputy Kyle testified that he also discovered several discarded bottles containing multicolored pellets, coffee filters, tin foil, and batteries. R. 38, ll. 5-10. Based on his training and experience, Deputy Kyle determined the home was being used to manufacture methamphetamine. R. 38, ll. 11-14. Deputy Wilbanks reached the same conclusion. R. 55, ll. 4-7.

After the officers determined that Travis Kirby was not in the house, they left the home back out the way they had entered, which was through Appellant and Cain's bedroom. According to the officers' testimony, they discovered that Appellant and Cain had left the residence in Appellant's vehicle after attempting to barricade the interior door of the bedroom leading to the rest of the house. R. 39, l. 13 – 40, l. 1; R. 55, l. 12 –56, l. 4. The deputies also observed "what appeared to be the contents of a one pot or meth lab," specifically liquid containing multicolored pellets, on the grass and concrete area outside the exterior door to Appellant and Cain's bedroom. Deputy Kyle testified that "it was fresh and it was wet." R. 39, ll. 3-12; R. 42, ll. 2-20; R. 56, l. 17 – 57, l. 4.

Deputy Wilbanks testified that the home had no running water or electricity. Nonetheless, Wilbanks explained that the residence appeared to be illegally obtaining both through a "drop cord" and a "hose pipe" running from the trailer next door to the home. R. 57, l. 22 – 58, l. 10; R. 62, ll. 17-25. The house also appeared to be under construction. R. 61, ll. 9-12. Deputy Wilbanks further testified, "I do remember seeing that it appeared [Appellant and Cain] had been living in the bedroom" and that there was food and drinks in the room. R. 65, ll. 8-21.

After clearing the residence, Deputy Kyle contacted dispatch who notified the narcotics division of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office to respond to the scene. The narcotics division in turn contacted their forensic chemist, Beth Stuart, to assist in cleaning up the residence. R. 57, ll. 12-15. There was no evidence in the record regarding whether the officers obtained a search warrant.

Beth Stuart testified that on January 17, 2012, she had eight and a half years of experience as a chemical analyst. She had a Bachelor of Science Degree in both

Chemistry and Biochemistry from the College of Charleston and a Master's Degree in Chemistry from the University of South Carolina. Stuart completed training at the federal Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) including its "forensic chemist school" and its "clandestine lab school." She is a member of the Clandestine Lab Investigating Chemist Association and is certified by the American Board of Criminalistics in all areas of forensic science. R. 67, l. 6 – 68, l. 16. Stuart was qualified as an expert in forensic chemistry and chemical analysis without objection. R. 69, l. 1 – 70, l. 4.

Stuart explained that common household products can be used to manufacture methamphetamine. R. 70, l. 18-23. She described in detail the "one pot" method to manufacturing methamphetamine that she claimed was used by the individuals at the Spartanburg home and described photographs of the scene. See R. 80, l. 10 – 83, l. 9. Stuart further explained that manufacturing methamphetamine is a very dangerous process and thus the components found inside the home were not collected and placed into evidence. Instead, a company came out to the residence and disposed of the chemical waste. R. 72, l. 5 – 73, l. 6. Stuart testified that none of the components or discarded items found inside the home were fingerprinted due to the inherent danger of the chemicals. R. 73, ll. 7-24.

Stuart conceded that *no* methamphetamine or pseudoephedrine was found inside the house. R. 89, ll. 5-7; R. 103, l. 23 – 104, l. 1; R. 111, ll. 13-15. Instead, she testified she found *empty* blister packs in trash bags in the living room that previously contained tablets of pseudoephedrine, a main component in the manufacture of methamphetamine. Specifically, Stuart found twenty empty blister packs that each previously held twenty-four tablets, each with a weight of thirty milligrams of pseudoephedrine. She also found

another four blister packs that each previously held ten tablets, each with a weight of one hundred twenty milligrams of pseudoephedrine. R. 91, ll. 3-7; R. 111, ll. 6-12. Stuart concluded that when added altogether the blister packs found inside the home used to contain a total of 19.2 grams of pseudoephedrine. R. 91, ll. 7-9.

Based on this figure alone, Stuart testified she used an equation to determine how much methamphetamine one could manufacture with a one hundred percent yield. Before Stuart was able to testify as to the amount, defense counsel objected arguing such testimony was outside her area of expertise. After further voir dire, the court qualified Stuart as an expert "in the field of chemistry to be able to give her opinion in the area of theoretical yields" over defense counsel's objection. Stuart claimed that with 19.2 grams of pseudoephedrine, an individual could manufacture 17.67 grams of methamphetamine assuming a one hundred percent yield, 14.13 grams assuming an eighty percent yield, 13.25 grams assuming a seventy-five percent yield, and 11.48 grams assuming a sixty-five percent yield. R. 99, l. 16 – 100, l. 19.

Stuart acknowledged that there was no way to determine what percent yield the individuals in the Spartanburg home theoretically would have been able to obtain. She also acknowledged that the figures she came up with were produced in "laboratory conditions" meaning with the use of pure chemicals and "real glassware" and by a trained chemist. R. 101, l. 12 – 102, l. 6; R. 105, ll. 2-9. Stuart also agreed that it is possible to not get a one hundred percent conversion, meaning some of the ingredients, such as the pseudoephedrine, may not have reacted with the other ingredients, and thereby may have been wasted. R. 105, l. 10 – 106, l.

After presenting only three witnesses, the state rested relying solely on the testimony of the deputies who discovered the alleged methamphetamine manufacturing operation and the chemist. The state presented no physical evidence.

Defense counsel for Cain presented the testimony of Leon Fowler, Sr. R. 116, ll. 4-5. Mr. Fowler testified that he lived in the trailer located one hundred feet behind the residence in this case. R. 121, ll. 15-17. Fowler explained that the house and trailer are located on two separate lots and have two separate addresses, but that his son, Leon Fowler, Jr., owns both properties. R. 116, ll. 17 – 154, l. 8. Fowler testified that Appellant and Cain rented a single bedroom from his son and, as far as he knew, they were only “living in that one room.” R. 117, l. 23 – 119, l. 11. Fowler did not know how long Appellant and Cain had been living in the room “but it wasn’t very long . . . not over two or three weeks . . .” R. 119, ll. 8-11.

Fowler further testified that Appellant and Cain routinely came to his trailer to use the bathroom and to shower or bathe. As far as he knew, there was no running water in the house. R. 119, ll. 12-16; R. 120, ll. 8-11. Fowler stated that he did not know whether Appellant and Cain had a power cord running from his trailer to the house, but that his son often did so when he was working on the house. R. 119, l. 24 – 120, l. 7. Fowler testified that it “seemed like” there was a power cord hooked up when the police arrived, but he “wouldn’t swear to it.” *Id.* Fowler was never questioned by the police. R. 121, ll. 4-9.

The defense maintained at trial that Appellant and Cain were “merely present” and were not knowingly involved in the manufacture or trafficking of methamphetamine. To support their theory, defense counsel stressed the couple did not have access to or a

lease to the rest of the house and only lived in that single bedroom. Additionally, there was no running water in the home and Appellant and Cain relied on Mr. Fowler to use the bathroom and shower at his trailer indicating the couple had no reason to enter the rest of the house. R. 129, l. 19 – 130, l. 25. Defense counsel further emphasized that the blister packs found in the trash in the living room were empty and that there was no evidence regarding how long the trash had been there or how long Appellant and Cain had lived in the home. R. 136, l. 12-23. Defense counsel also stressed that the police failed to investigate the owner of the home, any other occupants, and whether Appellant and Cain had a lease to the entire house. R. 135, ll. 17-25.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss where Appellant was charged with trafficking in methamphetamine between ten and twenty-eight grams under Section 44-53-375(C) and where under the plain meaning of the statute no "attempt to manufacture" could be established since no methamphetamine was found in the home and since the state relied solely on empty, discarded blister packs of pseudoephedrine to determine a theoretical yield to establish the statutorily required weight.

Motion to Dismiss

Prior to the jury being sworn, defense counsel for both Appellant and Cain moved to dismiss the respective indictments for trafficking in methamphetamine on the grounds that neither could be convicted of the charge under the plain meaning of the statute. R. 11, ll. 9-23; R. 21, ll. 7-8; R. 20, ll. 14-21. The court acknowledged "that the state intends to have a fairly novel approach to this case in that they're gonna establish trafficking through extrapolation from the aggregate components to say that a yield would have been more than the trafficking amount." R. 8, ll. 1-4. The court thus required the state to identify the plain language of South Carolina Code Section 44-53-375 that "allows the state to pursue this case in the method that it intends to." R. 13, ll. 6-8.

The state claimed it was relying on the language of Subsection (C) of the statute requiring an "attempt" to manufacture ten grams or more of methamphetamine. The solicitor said, "Judge, in this case we would argue that they are attempting to manufactur[e] methamphetamine" with "a theoretical yield of more than ten grams . . ." The solicitor concluded, "Their attempt to manufacture falls directly within the statute,

and if you take the statute based on the plain meaning, and apply that to the facts of this case, I believe that a charge of trafficking would be appropriate.” R. 13, l. 9 – 14, l. 1.

Defense counsel for Cain argued that the plain meaning of “attempt” in this context means one has the “components” to manufacture methamphetamine, but has not actually manufactured any. He stated, “[G]iven the Sudafed they have, given the other components, they could have manufactured this much. That would be attempt.” Defense counsel argued that is not what the state found in this case. He stated, “This is a theoretical yield saying we have the empty blister packs, we have these other things in the trash that, if you look at all that, they could have manufactured this much.” R. 15, l. 22 – 16, l. 6. In essence, defense counsel maintained that because the state only found discarded items in the trash, specifically empty blister packs, and did not actually find any pseudoephedrine or methamphetamine, under the plain meaning of the word “attempt” the statute did not apply in this case.

The court repeatedly took the issue under advisement, but ultimately ruled that the state could proceed with its case and refused to dismiss the indictments based on the plain language of the statute and the “persuasive authority that was handed in by Mr. Holliday.” R. 20, ll. 7-8; R. 24, ll. 19-25; R. 125, ll. 4-14. The court stated “it’s not necessarily a question of law as much as it is a question of fact for the jury if they believe your theoretical yield theory yields more than ten, less than twenty-eight grams, then I guess they can find him guilty of trafficking.” R. 25, ll. 11-16. Subject to defense counsel’s objection, the parties agreed to send a special interrogatory to the jury to determine whether the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the theoretical yield

was ten grams or more but less than twenty-eight grams. R. 125, l. 15 – 126, l. 11; R. 162, ll. 10-25.

Discussion

The circuit court erred in denying Appellant’s motion to dismiss because under the plain meaning of Section 44-53-375(C), Appellant could not be convicted of trafficking in methamphetamine under the facts of the case.

The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. Bryant v. State, 384 S.C. 525, 683 S.E.2d 280 (2009). As such, a court must abide by the plain meaning of the words of a statute. State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 713 S.E.2d 621 (2011). Also, penal statutes must be strictly construed against the state and in favor of the defendant. Hair v. State, 305 S.C. 77, 78, 406 S.E.2d 332, 334 (1991); State v. Cutler, 274 S.C. 376, 378, 264 S.E.2d 420, 420-421 (1980); State v. Muldrow, 348 S.C. 264, 559 S.E.2d 847 (2002).

When Section 44-53-375(C) is strictly construed against the state it does not apply to this case. The narrow inquiry is whether the evidence constituted an “attempt” to “manufacture” ten grams or more, but less than twenty-eight grams of methamphetamine under the statute. Manufacture is defined in S.C. Code Section 44-53-110 as “the production, preparation, propagation, compounding, conversion, or processing of a controlled substance, either directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis, or by a combination of extraction and chemical synthesis, and includes any packaging or repackaging of the substance or labeling or relabeling of its container . . .” “Attempt” is not defined.

Under the plain language of the statute the state cannot prove an attempt to produce, prepare, propagate, compound, convert or process methamphetamine by means of chemical synthesis without first proving possession of either pseudoephedrine, the main component, or methamphetamine, the end product. Because neither were found by law enforcement in this case, the state should not have been permitted to proceed with the trafficking charge.

The state at trial relied on Iowa v. Knapp, 778 N.W.2d 218 (Iowa App. 2009), an unpublished disposition that is easily distinguishable from the case at hand. In Knapp, the defendant was tried for conspiracy to manufacture more than five grams of methamphetamine among other charges after *a bag containing 16.8 grams of pure pseudoephedrine*, which has a theoretical yield of 15.4 grams of pure methamphetamine, was *found on his person*. Knapp argued on appeal that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a judgment of acquittal. However, the Court of Appeals of Iowa held “the State can rely on evidence of the potential yield to prove the amount of methamphetamine conspired to be produced.” Because the amount of crushed pseudoephedrine found on Knapp’s person had the potential to yield more than five grams of methamphetamine, the court held there was sufficient evidence for a factfinder to infer a conspiracy to manufacture more than five grams of methamphetamine.” Id. Here, there was no pseudoephedrine found in the house or on Appellant’s person and Appellant was charged with trafficking not “conspiracy to manufacture.”

While the record is unclear, it appears the state also presented and relied on the case of U.S. v. Spencer, 439 F.3d 905 (8th Cir. 2006).¹ See R. 114, ll. 21-25. Spencer is also easily distinguishable from the facts of this case. In Spencer, law enforcement *seized bottles of pseudoephedrine* from Spencer's home that "could have produced a theoretical yield of 79.1 grams and a practical yield of forty-two to sixty-four grams of actual (pure) methamphetamine" and the jury found him guilty of "attempting to manufacture five grams or more of actual (pure) methamphetamine" among other drug related offenses. Id. at 911-912. The Eight Circuit held that there was sufficient evidence to support Spencer's conviction because "although Spencer may not have possessed a fully working methamphetamine lab, Spencer had ordered, received, and *possessed chemicals* and equipment necessary to manufacture methamphetamine." Id. at 916.

In both Knapp and Spencer, law enforcement actually seized a quantity of pseudoephedrine. Because pseudoephedrine is the main component in the manufacture of methamphetamine a jury could assume in both those cases that the defendant intended to attempt to manufacture methamphetamine or assist another in attempting to manufacture methamphetamine. However, in Appellant's case, law enforcement found *no* methamphetamine or pseudoephedrine in the Spartanburg home. In fact, there was no evidence that 19.2 grams of pseudoephedrine was ever in the Spartanburg home or was ever in Appellant's possession. R. 91, ll. 7-9. Furthermore, there was no testimony regarding how long the empty blister packs had been in the residence or how they got there. Without the actual main component to manufacture methamphetamine and without

¹ The case is cited on the record as "United States of America versus Joseph Nelson." As best as can be ascertained by undersigned counsel, the case referred to is U.S. v. Joseph Nelson Spencer, 439 F.3d 905 (8th Cir. 2006).

any actual methamphetamine, Section 44-53-375(C) does not apply. Thus, the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to dismiss.

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