STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TIPHANI MARIE PARKHURST,

Appellant.

APPELATE CASE NO. 2013-000909

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TIPHANI MARIE PARKHURST,

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's pretrial motion to dismiss Appellant's charges because the empty pseudoephedrine blister packs, taken in conjunction with the chemist's testimony about how methamphetamine is produced, established the intent of Appellant and her codefendant to manufacture in excess of ten grams of methamphetamine based on the potential yield of the quantity of pseudoephedrine that came from the empty blister packs; and the issue should have been raised in a motion for directed verdict and not a pretrial motion, therefore, the issue is not preserved for review.**

Parkhurst was convicted of trafficking methamphetamine based on a theory that she and Cain attempted to manufacture more than ten grams of methamphetamine.<sup>1</sup> The evidence supporting the element of weight for this offense was based on the theoretical yield of methamphetamine produced from pseudoephedrine that would have been contained in the empty blister packs recovered from the house. Parkhurst argues that theoretical yield should not be calculated based on empty blister packs, but may only be calculated from actual pseudoephedrine recovered (no intact pills were recovered).

---

<sup>1</sup> Under S.C. Code § 44-53-375(C):

A person who knowingly . . . manufactures, . . . or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to . . . manufacture, . . . ten grams or more of methamphetamine . . . in violation of the provisions of Section 44-53-370, is guilty of a felony which is known as "trafficking in methamphetamine . . ."

Under S.C. Code § 44-53-375(D): "Possession of equipment or paraphernalia used in the manufacture of . . . methamphetamine is prima facie evidence of intent to manufacture."

Parkhurst ignores the pink mush visible in State's Exhibits Numbers 12-15 and 23-24.

At trial, Cain and Parkhurst argued in a pretrial motion that the charge of trafficking methamphetamine should be dismissed because according to counsel, "I don't think there's anything in this statute or in South Carolina law that says you can take a theoretical yield based on the evidence found and make it into a trafficking case." ROA. p. 11. In the instant case, the State provided abundant evidence of materials gathered for the production of methamphetamine and also evidence of ongoing manufacturing in the meth lab. Part of this evidence was the presence of empty blister packs found in the home. The State's expert, Stuart, was able to determine a theoretical yield based on the amount of pseudoephedrine that would be in the empty blister packs.

The procedural stance upon which Parkhurst raised this issue is odd. The issue was not raised as a directed verdict motion, which would be more appropriate. Parkhurst failed to raise the perceived deficiency of proof in her motion for directed verdict.

Perhaps Parkhurst seeks a *per se* rule that theoretical yield could not be calculated based on empty blister pack containers of pseudoephedrine. This argument ignores the obvious inference that the pseudoephedrine originally in the empty blister packs was consumed in the manufacturing process that was still ongoing at the time law enforcement happened upon the meth lab. The surrounding circumstances persuasively point toward this conclusion.

"It is undisputed in the scientific community that chemical processes exist whereby pseudoephedrine can be converted into methamphetamine." People v. Wilke, 854 N.E.2d 275, 281 (Ill. App. Ct. 2006) (finding expert testimony that 3,908 pills containing 124.7

grams of pseudoephedrine could yield 1147 grams of methamphetamine was a scientifically sound conclusion). Wilke found that not only could an expert testify as to the potential yield of methamphetamine from precursor substances such as pseudoephedrine, but that analysis under Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923) is unnecessary to elicit such testimony. Wilke, at 281. Parkhurst does not challenge the fact that pseudoephedrine is the primary ingredient in the manufacture of methamphetamine or that potential yield calculations are improper to determine how much methamphetamine is produced from a given quantity of pseudoephedrine. The crux of Parkhurst's argument seems to be that no inference is allowable from the existence of a multitude of empty pseudoephedrine blister packs.

Other jurisdictions have determined yield calculations based on empty precursor containers to be allowable evidence sufficient to support factual findings for the intended quantity of methamphetamine production. In United States v. Engler, 521 F.3d 965 (8th Cir. 2008), one of the defendants argued that evidence was insufficient to support a verdict for attempted manufacture of more than five grams of methamphetamine. However, the Eighth Circuit found evidence was sufficient based on evidence including the recovery of "empty blister packs amounting to 2016 pseudoephedrine pills which could theoretically yield 55 grams of methamphetamine." Id. at 974.

In another case, the Eighth Circuit noted: "A chemist's testimony at trial substantiates a finding that the [meth] lab was capable of producing a maximum theoretical yield of 510 grams of actual methamphetamine, based on empty precursor containers." United States v. Titlbach, 339 F.3d 692, 696 (8th Cir. 2003).

Similarly, the Ninth Circuit found reliance for sentencing purposes on an expert's yield calculations of methamphetamine based on two empty one-pound containers of ephedrine was not clearly erroneous. United States v. Basinger, 60 F.3d 1400, 1409 (9th Cir. 1995).

In Varble v. Commonwealth, 125 S.W.3d 246 (Ky. 2004), the Kentucky Supreme Court rejected the argument that Varble could not be convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine because no anhydrous ammonia or coffee filters were recovered. The court noted testimony about the odor of anhydrous ammonia from two air tanks and disclosure of brass fittings likely caused by anhydrous ammonia as circumstantial evidence of possession of the precursor. In rejecting Varble's argument, the Kentucky Supreme Court commented: "Appellant's argument is akin to claiming that his possession of twenty-two Sudafed blister packs would not support his conviction because the blister packs were empty." Id. at 254.

As these cases demonstrate, the logical conclusion in the instant case is that the pseudoephedrine once contained in the empty blister packs was utilized in the meth lab where the blister packs were found. The issue was a question of fact appropriate for the jury's determination, and not a question of law for the trial court to determine before evidence was even presented.

Further, missing from Parkhurst's analysis is discussion of the evidence of used up pseudoephedrine. Several one pot bottles were found with a pink mush, which is the byproduct of methamphetamine production. See State's Exhibits Nos. 12 and 23. Referencing the photograph admitted as State's Exhibit Number 23, Stuart directed the

jurors' attention to "pink little pellets and white pellets all mixed into the bottom together, and you can see little black specs in there too." ROA. p. 80, lines 3-9. She explained: "In the process of making methamphetamine, what you have to do in order to manufacture it is you take your pseudoephedrine and crush it up. . . . [T]he tablets are typically red when you pop them out of the blister packs. So that's the pink pellets you see in there." ROA. p. 80, lines 10-15. State's Exhibit Number 12 depicts three more one pots. Stuart noted "they're very pink from that, where the Pseudoephedrine was crushed up in them." ROA. p. 87. So there is the evidence of what became of the missing pseudoephedrine pills Parkhurst argues are necessary for her conviction.

The empty blister packs, in conjunction with remnants of pseudoephedrine pills found in the one pot bottles and discarded outside the co-defendants' bedroom door, create a reasonable inference that the 19.2 grams of pseudoephedrine originally in the blister packs was utilized in the methamphetamine manufacturing process. Whether or not the pseudoephedrine was so utilized was a question for the jury. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (noting the responsibility of the trier of fact "to resolve conflicts in testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts"). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying the pretrial motion to dismiss.

Parkhurst's argument is in actuality a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, and the proper vehicle for challenging the sufficiency of evidence is a motion for directed verdict. State v. Green, 350 S.C. 580, 586, 567 S.E.2d 505, 508 (Ct. App. 2002) ("A motion for directed verdict . . . contests the *sufficiency* of the State's *properly admitted*

evidence.” (emphasis in the original)). Note Parkhurst fails to challenge on appeal the admission of the expert testimony concerning potential yield. Its admission is the law of the case as it is unchallenged on appeal. Burton v. County of Abbeville, 312 S.C. 359, 363, 440 S.E.2d 396, 398 (Ct. App. 1994) (finding circuit court ruling that was not mentioned or challenged in appellant’s brief was the law of the case); State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding unchallenged rulings were the law of the case).

Further, Parkhurst waived a challenge to the sufficiency of this evidence when Parkhurst failed to raise the issue in a motion for directed verdict. Issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970).

Regardless, evidence was sufficient to support the verdict. When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001). In the instant case, the obvious inference is that the empty blister packs contained pseudoephedrine in sufficient amounts to produce more than ten grams of methamphetamine and Parkhurst and Cain were attempting to do

just that based on the meth lab in the bathroom that was in the gassing-out phase of production and the empty one pots found in the house, as well as other ingredients, instruments, and remnants of methamphetamine production.

## II.

**Evidence supported Appellant's guilt, where evidence established that Appellant had control over the premises where the meth lab was found, where Appellant and her codefendant claimed to live together in the bedroom of the residence, where Appellant and codefendant allowed their dog to roam the remainder of the premises, where Appellant and her codefendant barricaded the door to the bedroom when the meth lab was found elsewhere in the house, where they fled the scene in their car after pouring out the contents of a one pot in the early stages of meth production, and where evidence indicated that Appellant and codefendant were the only people living in the house.**

Parkhurst argues the evidence failed to establish her intent to traffic methamphetamine. Parkhurst hangs on to her and Cain's self-serving contention that they stayed in only one room of the house and did not have access to the other parts of the house where the meth lab, meth ingredients, and paraphernalia of meth production were found. This argument ignores: (1) Parkhurst and Cain's guilty conduct in fleeing the scene before law enforcement discovered the meth lab, (2) Parkhurst and Cain's demonstration of access and control over the premises by shutting their dog out of their bedroom and into the remainder of the house, and (3) evidence indicating that Parkhurst and Cain lived alone in the house. The State provided more than sufficient evidence of trafficking for the trial court to submit the case to the jury.

When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id. If there is any

direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find that the case was properly submitted to the jury. State v. McGowan, 347 S.C. 618, 622, 557 S.E.2d 657, 659 (2001).

Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

The United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, **and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.**

Jackson, at 319 (second emphasis added).

Our Supreme Court recently articulated the following concerning the standard of review:

The trial court should grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to the guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. On the other hand, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.

State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (quoting State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

This is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's observation concerning circumstantial evidence:

Admittedly, circumstantial evidence may in some cases point to a wholly incorrect result. Yet this is equally true of testimonial evidence. In both instances, a jury is asked to weigh the chances that the evidence correctly points to guilt against the possibility of inaccuracy or ambiguous inference. In both, the jury must use its experience with people and events in weighing the probabilities. If the jury is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt we can require no more.

Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 137-38 (1955) *cited with approval in Jackson*, at 317 n.9.

Parkhurst was convicted of trafficking based on the conduct of attempting or aiding and abetting in the manufacture of methamphetamine. See S.C. Code § 44-53-375(C). “‘Manufacture’ means the production, preparation, propagation, compounding, conversion, or processing of a controlled substance, either directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis, or by a combination of extraction and chemical synthesis, . . . .” S.C. Code § 44-53-110. “‘Methamphetamine’ includes any salt, isomer, or salt of an isomer, or any mixture of compound containing amphetamine or methamphetamine. . . .” Id.

Attempt crimes are specific intent crimes that require the State to prove the defendant's specific intent coupled with an overt act, beyond mere preparation and in furtherance of that intent, and the actual or present ability to complete the crime. State v.

Nesbitt, 346 S.C. 226, 231, 550 S.E.2d 864, 866 (Ct. App. 2001). The overt act is sufficient if it goes “far enough toward accomplishment of the crime to amount to the commencement of its consummation.” State v. Quick, 199 S.C. 256, 259, 19 S E.2d 101, 102 (1942).

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